

General Standards for Neurological Care and Support





We are committed to advancing equality, promoting diversity and championing human rights. The general standards for neurological care and support are intended to enhance improvements in health and social care for everyone, regardless of their age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, socio-economic status or any other status. Suggested aspects to consider and recommended practice throughout the standards should be interpreted as being inclusive of everyone living in Scotland.

We carried out an equality impact assessment to help us consider if everyone will experience the intended benefits of these standards in a fair and equitable way. A copy of the equality impact assessment is published on our website.

Healthcare Improvement Scotland is committed to ensuring that our standards are upto-date, fit for purpose, and informed by quality evidence and best practice. We consistently assess the validity of our standards documents, working with stakeholders across health and social care, the third sector and those with lived experience. We encourage you to contact the standards and indicators team at <u>hcis.standardsandindicators@nhs.net</u> to notify us of any updates that the general standards for neurological care and support project group may need to consider.

© Healthcare Improvement Scotland 2019

First published March 2019

This document is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International Licence. This allows for the copy and redistribution of this document as long as Healthcare Improvement Scotland is fully acknowledged and given credit. The material must not be remixed, transformed or built upon in any way. To view a copy of this licence, visit https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org

Contents

Introduction	4
Summary of standards	9
Standard 1: Leadership and governance	10
Standard 2: Working together	14
Standard 3: Staff education, training and information	17
Standard 4: Diagnosis	21
Standard 5: Assessment of needs	25
Standard 6: Treatment and management	29
Standard 7: Person-centred care	33
References	36
Appendix 1: Development of the general standards for neurological care	
and support	41
Appendix 2: Membership of the general standards for neurological care	
and support development group	43

Introduction

Background

Neurological conditions are a significant cause of morbidity and mortality in Scotland. The impact of living with a neurological condition differs enormously in individuals. Many conditions can have a significant and life-changing effect on an individual and their family and carers. Care and support services across health, social care and the third sector have a vital role in supporting people to live well.

In 2009, NHS Quality Improvement Scotland (Healthcare Improvement Scotland's predecessor organisation) developed clinical standards for neurological health services. The document publication comprised of four generic standards that applied to services provided for all people living with neurological conditions. The remaining standards were specific to a limited number of neurological conditions.

In May 2016, the Scottish Government supported Healthcare Improvement Scotland's commitment to review the generic standards in the 2009 publication. That year, third sector organisation, Sue Ryder published a report¹ highlighting that the 2009 clinical standards had not been universally implemented across NHSScotland, which had led to a variation in care for people living with neurological conditions.

The 2019 general standards have been developed to ensure consistency in approach to neurological care and support services. They are applicable to anyone living with a neurological condition in Scotland. Organisations across health, social care and the third sector who support people living with neurological conditions will use the standards to demonstrate that they are delivering high quality services. The standards will set out the same high level of care and support for all adults in Scotland regardless of their neurological condition, care setting, geographical location or personal circumstance.

Healthcare Improvement Scotland will support the neurology community to consider the next steps for the condition-specific elements in the 2009 clinical standards following publication of the general standards for neurological care and support.

What are neurological conditions?

Within the standards, the term 'neurological condition' refers to all diseases of the central and peripheral nervous system (the brain, spinal cord, cranial nerves, peripheral nerves, nerve roots, autonomic nervous system, neuromuscular junction, and muscles),² from the well-recognised and prevalent to the very rare.

We recognise the challenge in categorising neurological disease as it is an umbrella term to describe an individual's presentation and experience of symptoms which can differ enormously. Differentiation between disorders of the nervous system (for example, multiple sclerosis, stroke and neuropathy) and disorders primarily caused by abnormal function of the nervous system (for example, migraine, movement disorders and functional neurological symptoms) can be complex, with similar symptoms and resultant health problems.

Neurological conditions can be:

- self-limiting the condition resolves spontaneously with or without treatment (for example, viral meningitis, transient global amnesia)
- recurrent episodic conditions characterised by the intermittent return of a sign or symptom (for example, migraine, epilepsy)
- persistent enduring conditions which exist or remain in the same state for an indefinite long time (for example, spina bifida, cerebral palsy)
- progressive conditions where there is a progressive deterioration in function (for example, Parkinson's disease, multiple sclerosis)
- life-limiting conditions for which there is no cure that will shorten a person's life (for example, motor neurone disease, Huntington's disease).

National Action Plan on Neurological Conditions

The Scottish Government's National Action Plan on Neurological Conditions³ articulates a vision for neurological health and care services and aims to drive improvements in the care, treatment and support available to people living with neurological conditions, and their family and carers, in Scotland.

The National Action Plan on Neurological Conditions aims to:

- ensure people with neurological conditions and their carers are partners in their care and support
- improve the provision of co-ordinated health and social care and support for people with neurological conditions
- ensure high standards of effective, person-centred, and safe care and support
- improve equitable and timely access to health and social care and support across Scotland, and
- build a sustainable neurological workforce for the future.

The National Action Plan on Neurological Conditions is committed to promoting and supporting the implementation of the general standards for neurological care and support.

Policy context

In addition to the National Action Plan on Neurological Conditions, the standards should also be read alongside other relevant legislation⁴ and guidance⁵⁻¹² including:

- National Health and Wellbeing Outcomes¹³
- Realising Realistic Medicine¹⁴
- Social Care (Self-directed Support) Act 2013¹⁵
- Health and Social Care Standards¹⁶
- Carers (Scotland) Act 2016¹⁷
- Organisational Duty of Candour guidance¹⁸
- 18 weeks: The Referral to Treatment Standard,¹⁹ and

 other applicable Healthcare Improvement Scotland guidance²⁰, standards and SIGN guidelines.²¹⁻²⁸

The general standards for neurological care and support are intended to complement, not duplicate, existing standards and guidelines. References to appropriate and relevant documentation have been included throughout the standards. These references are not an exhaustive list. Organisations, services and staff should continue to refer to appropriate and applicable professional guidance, policy and best practice.

Health and social care integration

In April 2016, following the implementation of the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014,²⁹ 31 Health and Social Care Partnerships were established. The aim of health and social care integration is to:

- improve the quality and consistency of care for individuals, carers, and their families
- provide seamless, joined-up care that enables people to stay in their homes or homely setting, where it is safe for them to do so, and
- ensure that resources are used effectively and efficiently to deliver services that meet the needs of the growing population of people with longer term and often complex needs, many of whom are older.

The general standards for neurological care and support aim to support multiprofessional and multi-agency delivery of neurological services. The standards have been developed to support organisations within health and social care to deliver high quality care and support for people living with neurological conditions in Scotland.

Health and Social Care Standards

In recognition of the changing landscape of health and social care services in Scotland, the Scottish Government published *Health and Social Care Standards. My support, my life* in 2017.¹⁶ These standards underpin the general standards for neurological care and support which have been developed to complement the guiding principles of the Health and Social Care Standards.

The objectives of the Health and Social Care Standards are to drive improvement, promote flexibility and encourage innovation in how people are cared for and supported. The Health and Social Care Standards cover all health and social care services in Scotland and promote delivery of high quality, compassionate, person-centred, safe and effective care with a focus on outcomes. They describe what we should all expect when using care services in Scotland. They are founded on human rights and seek to provide better outcomes for everyone to ensure that people are treated with dignity and respect. They are designed to ensure that the assessment of quality is not determined by organisations achieving minimum standards, but that people have positive experiences and are supported to achieve their personal outcomes. They will help managers and care staff plan, implement and reflect across strategy, assessment, commissioning as well as delivery of services.

Quality of care approach and framework³⁰

The Healthcare Improvement Scotland general standards for neurological care and support are a key component in supporting organisations' approaches to quality assurance. Monitoring and improving performance against these standards, at an organisational and national level, aims to improve the experiences and outcomes of people living with neurological conditions.

Healthcare Improvement Scotland is publishing these standards for services to use to inform their own self-evaluation and improvement of the care they provide. Our approach to quality assurance emphasises the importance of regular open and honest organisational self-evaluation using the quality framework as a basis. We may use these standards along with our Quality Framework, which underpins all our quality assurance activity, when undertaking inspections and reviews of the quality of health services. There is no plan to undertake any specific inspections or routine external quality assurance activity related to these standards.

The Care Inspectorate, Healthcare Improvement Scotland and other scrutiny bodies may take into account these standards in relation to inspections, quality assurance functions and registration of health and social care services.

Scope of the standards

The Healthcare Improvement Scotland general standards for neurological care and support apply to all health and social care services and organisations that support adults in Scotland living with a neurological condition.

The standards cover the following priority areas:

- leadership and governance
- working together
- staff education, training and information
- diagnosis
- assessment of needs
- treatment and management, and
- person-centred care.

More information about the development of the standards is set out in Appendix 1.

Format of the standards

All our standards follow the same format. Each standard includes:

- a statement of the level of performance to be achieved
- a rationale providing reasons why the standard is considered important
- a list of criteria describing the required structures, processes and outcomes
- what to expect if you are a person experiencing care
- what is expected if you are a member of staff, and

 what the standards mean for organisations, including examples of evidence of achievement.

Within the standards, all criteria are considered 'essential' or 'required' in order to demonstrate the standard has been met. In addition, at the end of each standard, a list of examples of evidence of achievement are provided which will enable service providers to demonstrate it has met the standard. While all organisations responsible for the delivery of services to people with neurological conditions are expected to meet all the standards, the detailed implementation of these standards is for local determination.

Terminology

Wherever possible, we have incorporated generic terminology which can be applied across all health and social care settings:

- 'care and support' refers to all health and social care, including treatment and intervention
- 'holistic needs assessment' may include assessment of an individual's physical, psychological, emotional, spiritual and social needs, with an opportunity for the person to discuss and identify other concerns or worries
- 'organisation' refers to all health and social care services and organisations that support people living with a neurological condition, for example, NHS boards, Integration Authorities, social care providers, third sector and independent care providers
- 'person/individual' refers to the person experiencing care and support
- 'self-management' refers to the person-centred approach to include all the actions taken by people living with neurological conditions to recognise, treat, as appropriate, and manage their life and condition or conditions. They may do this independently or in partnership with the health and social care system
- 'social care' refers to all providers of social care, including statutory services, social work services, the third sector and the independent sector who support people living with neurological conditions, and
- 'transition' refers to the process of planning, preparing and moving between services and settings.

Summary of standards

Standard 1: Leadership and governance

To support people living with neurological conditions, each organisation demonstrates effective leadership and governance in the delivery and management of care and support services.

Standard 2: Working together

Organisations work together to support people living with neurological conditions.

Standard 3: Staff education, training and information

Each organisation ensures that staff have the education, training and information to deliver care and support to people living with neurological conditions, appropriate to roles and workplace setting.

Standard 4: Diagnosis

Diagnosis of a neurological condition is accurate, person centred, and followed by appropriate information, support and advice.

Standard 5: Assessment of needs

People living with neurological conditions are offered a holistic needs assessment with opportunities for review as an individual's needs change.

Standard 6: Treatment and management

Treatment and ongoing support for people living with a neurological condition is high quality and person centred.

Standard 7: Person-centred care

People living with neurological conditions experience high quality, well-coordinated and person-centred services.

Standard 1: Leadership and governance

Standard statement

To support people living with neurological conditions, each organisation demonstrates effective leadership and governance in the delivery and management of care and support services.

Rationale

Effective leadership and governance is critical to ensure high standards of safe, person-centred and effective health and social care services. People (and their family and carers, where appropriate) have confidence that every organisation that provides their care and support^{13, 16} has high quality leadership and governance.

It is essential that organisations that provide neurological care and support develop and implement a neurological care and support plan to ensure people know what to expect from services.³⁰ This plan should describe its approach with strategic priorities and actions underpinned by structured review.

Assessing, monitoring and driving improvements in the quality of care and experience of these services³¹ can enable positive health and wellbeing outcomes.¹³ Continuous organisational self-evaluation through a flexible, responsive approach,³⁰ and reflective practice ensures people living with neurological conditions experience high quality care and support services.

- **1.1** Each organisation has a nominated lead for neurological care and support.
- **1.2** Each organisation develops and implements a 3-yearly neurological care and support plan which, at a minimum, includes:
 - an annual review
 - alignment to the National Action Plan on Neurological Conditions
 - development and implementation of a workforce plan
 - a quality monitoring, performance management and improvement framework
 - a strategy to support collaborative working with agencies, services and people living with neurological conditions, and their family and carers
 - an approach to identifying the specific needs of different groups
 - holistic health and wellbeing needs assessment procedures with follow-up support, as appropriate
 - a strategy to minimise barriers for appropriate referral and access to services, and
 - approaches to enable staff to undertake research and innovation.

- **1.3** To support people living with neurological conditions, there are well-defined pathways of care and protocols to facilitate:
 - timely referral to appropriate health, care and wellbeing services
 - access to multi-agency input including, but not limited to, primary care, community support, specialist neurological services, mental health, and third sector support
 - person-centred and seamless transition between and among services and settings
 - structured reviews and personalised care planning which is developed collaboratively with the person (and their family and carer, where appropriate)
 - timely and appropriate access to follow-up services
 - support for a person's specific communication needs
 - shared decision-making with the person, and
 - self-management support.
- **1.4** To support people living with neurological conditions, each organisation has clear systems and processes to demonstrate:
 - implementation of relevant policies, procedures, guidance and standards
 - compliance with professional and organisational codes of practice
 - accountability and responsibility arrangements for reporting any adverse events in line with the national adverse events framework³²
 - ongoing and consistent quality and performance monitoring, assurance and improvement
 - referral prioritisation and escalation procedures with processes for crisis prevention and intervention
 - an effective multi-agency approach to neurological care and support, where required
 - accurate and prompt communications within, and among, services and settings
 - effective multi-agency (where appropriate) and appropriate information exchange to ensure continuity of care among teams and settings, and
 - continuous engagement with people who experience services to capture feedback and inform service improvements.

- People can be confident that:
 - the organisation that provides their care and support has effective leadership and governance, and is committed to quality improvement
 - professionals will work together and provide clear information to ensure continuity of care

- the organisation implements an organisational plan through a person-centred and multi-agency approach, and
- there are high quality and well-defined care and support pathways and protocols which meet their needs.
- People (including their family and carers, where appropriate) know how to provide feedback and are supported through this process. This includes what to do if they wish to offer positive feedback or make a complaint about the service they have experienced.
- People are supported when they transition between services and settings.
- People with additional communication needs are supported in ways that meet their needs.

What does the standard mean for staff?

- Staff have a clear understanding of:
 - care pathways, systems, protocols, standards and guidance, and
 - their organisation's role in supporting people living with neurological conditions, their family and carers.
- Staff have clear guidance on how to:
 - report and escalate adverse events, which is followed by support for learning and reflection, and
 - share their feedback to inform service improvements.
- Staff are fully informed about who their organisation's nominated lead is for neurological care and support.

What does the standard mean for the organisation?

- Each organisation:
 - provides high quality care and support services to people living with a neurological condition
 - has a nominated lead for neurological care and support
 - provides care and support in a planned and safe way
 - develops and implements a 3-year neurological care and support plan
 - works collaboratively with agencies, including the third sector, in their planning
 - works in partnership with those with lived experience, engaging and involving people in their planning
 - has a workforce plan that ensures that an individual's needs are met by the right people, and
 - has governance arrangements in place demonstrating roles, responsibilities and lines of accountability, including adverse events management.

Practical examples of evidence of achievement (NOTE: this list is not exhaustive)

- Multi-professional and multi-agency working, including action plans, care pathways and protocols, and transition planning.
- Evidence of implementation of self-evaluation with reporting of activities and progress.
- Documentation describing roles and responsibilities, lines of accountability and escalation of adverse events.
- Feedback from people who use services, including family, carers and independent advocates, and evidence of learning from complaints or feedback.
- Evidence of support provided to people with additional communication needs, for example, people with learning difficulty or disability or cognitive impairment.
- Risk registers that identify, for example, potential future risks to quality as well as internal risks.
- Evidence of monitoring of performance against national, organisational and local measures, for example, 18 weeks Referral to Treatment Standard, 12 week target for new outpatient appointments and local clinical audit.
- Publication of a 3-yearly organisational neurological care and support plan with annual review reports.
- Documentation understanding the needs of people with specific neurological conditions and evidence of an action plan of how these needs are to be addressed.
- Demonstration of re-entry and re-referral pathways for an individual's changing needs, including access to services due to the nature of their underlying neurological condition.
- A strategy that supports collaboration across agencies with evidence of its impact on people living with a neurological condition.
- Implementation of self-management strategies and frameworks, for example, 'Gaun Yersel' The Self-Management Strategy for Long Term Conditions in Scotland.³³
- Evidence of improvement work, including action plans, data collection and review of data (for example, person reported outcome and experience measures) and national benchmarking.

Standard 2: Working together

Standard statement

Organisations work together to support people living with neurological conditions.

Rationale

Effective management of a neurological condition is a result of teamwork and a multidisciplinary approach across and between agencies.

People living with neurological conditions (and their family and carers, where appropriate) benefit from health, social care and third sector organisations and services working together to support continuity of care. Organisations have different roles and contributions to make in enabling people living with neurological conditions to be involved in their own health and care in a meaningful way. Partnership working is underpinned by mutual respect and clear understanding of each partner's role and responsibilities to enable people to live well.

Care co-ordination may be managed by a range of professionals and services, including general practitioners, specialist nurses, allied health professionals, neurologists, social workers and care staff. Effective integrated working, communication³⁴ and building and maintaining strong multi-agency links across health, social care and the third sector addresses fragmentation of care. Co-ordination of multi-agency services ensures that the person's holistic needs and outcomes are met and can lead to improvements in quality of life, physical and mental health and wellbeing.^{35, 36}

- **2.1** To enable organisations that support people living with a neurological condition (and their family and carers, where appropriate) to work together effectively, each organisation has protocols and guidance:
 - to support a clear understanding of each agency's role and responsibilities
 - for transitions, discharge and onward multi-agency referral
 - for defined and robust channels of communication within organisations and across settings and services
 - to ensure appropriate information is shared promptly, safely and securely, in line with relevant governance arrangements and with consent, where applicable, and
 - for accountability and escalation of adverse events.

- **2.2** To support people living with a neurological condition (and their family and carers, where appropriate) there are locally agreed, well-coordinated pathways and protocols to:
 - facilitate holistic needs assessments with timely reviews aligned to relevant condition-specific standards and guidance, where available
 - enable access to appropriate physical and mental health, social care and community services for the person, based on their assessed needs
 - allow seamless transitions between services and settings, including a timely and efficient approach to documentation sharing
 - reduce gaps and unnecessary duplication in service delivery, and
 - action anticipatory care plans across health and social care services.
- **2.3** Each organisation ensures that an individual's assessed needs are met, working collaboratively with third and independent sector agencies, where appropriate.

- People can be confident that:
 - health and social care professionals will work together to deliver high quality, person-centred support
 - their information will be shared appropriately and promptly, safely and securely following consent and in line with relevant governance arrangements to minimise unnecessary duplication, support continuity and enhance their experience
 - they will be supported to access appropriate health, social care and third sector wellbeing services, appropriate to their assessed needs and wishes
 - the organisation promotes and delivers an approach to care and support centred on an individual's personal outcomes
 - they will experience continuity of care that is consistent and well co-ordinated, and
 - they will experience care and support from staff that have the necessary information to deliver high quality care.

What does the standard mean for staff?

- Staff have clear guidance on:
 - how their role, and the service they deliver, links with other professions and agencies
 - how to report and escalate issues within the multi-agency team
 - pathways and protocols to support seamless transition and discharge among services and across settings, and
 - how to share information sensitively and appropriately in a timely manner between and among health and social care services and settings.

• Staff can:

- promote and deliver a personal outcomes approach for people
- support people to access health, social care and third sector support, and
- connect and refer people, where appropriate, to wider community resources.

What does the standard mean for the organisation?

- The organisation ensures that:
 - it has well-coordinated care and support pathways and protocols
 - undertakes continuous development of a knowledgeable and skilled workforce, appropriate to roles and responsibilities
 - there are guidance and processes to enable prompt and appropriate information sharing
 - it works together with agencies to support the continuity of a person's care and support, and
 - it works with agencies, including the third and independent sector where appropriate, to meet a person's assessed needs.

Practical examples of evidence of achievement (NOTE: this list is not exhaustive)

- Communications demonstrating multidisciplinary and multi-agency working, for example, discharge summaries, referral letters and clear handover plans between professionals and services in health and social care settings.
- Demonstration of delivery of a personal outcomes approach.
- Evidence of consistent care and support as a result of organisations working together, for example, anticipatory care planning and transition.
- Evidence of appropriate information sharing, for example, Key Information Summary (KIS) and eWard.
- Evidence of collaboration and partnership with other agencies and third sector organisations, for example, joint working agreements between partners, multidisciplinary team meetings and case conferences.
- Feedback on partnership working, which the organisation uses for continual improvement, from people's experiences of services, including family, carers and independent advocates.
- Multidisciplinary or multi-agency care transition planning, for example, team huddles.
- Evidence of provision and uptake of multidisciplinary and multi-agency training.

Standard 3: Staff education, training and information

Standard statement

Each organisation ensures that staff have the education, training and information to deliver care and support to people living with neurological conditions, appropriate to roles and workplace setting.

Rationale

Person-centred care and support for people living with neurological conditions is provided by a number of health and care professionals in a variety of settings. This includes, for example, primary care, community or hospital setting, care at home and residential home accommodation. Given the prevalence, complexity and additional health and wellbeing challenges associated with many neurological conditions, staff are supported to continuously develop their knowledge and skills. They are provided with training appropriate to their role and responsibilities, with personal and peer support available, as required. Promotion of positive working and learning environments supports staff to deliver high quality care to people living with neurological conditions and their families and carers. Staff can support people to realise their personal outcomes and recognise the individual as an expert in their experiences, needs and wishes.¹⁶

Empowerment of staff to act autonomously, confidently and skilfully³⁷ within their professional and organisational codes³⁸⁻⁴⁸ with opportunities to feedback on their experiences underpins high quality health and social care services. Staff are provided with current and relevant information and guidance whilst reflecting on their practice to enable them to deliver high quality care.¹⁶

- **3.1** Each organisation ensures that staff involved in assessing, supporting and caring for people with neurological conditions:
 - provide care and support in a sensitive, respectful and person-centred manner, reflective of the guiding principles of the Health and Social Care Standards¹⁶
 - effectively communicate with people ensuring that their individualised needs are met
 - develop and maintain high levels of skill, knowledge and competency appropriate to their role and the individuals that they support, and
 - implement a multi-professional and multi-agency approach to improve knowledge, communication and partnership working.

- **3.2** Staff have access to clear guidance on their roles and responsibilities in supporting people living with neurological conditions, including:
 - self-management
 - transition planning
 - escalation of any concerns or issues, and
 - signposting people to appropriate support services, including specialist neurological services and third sector support.
- **3.3** Each organisation empowers staff who support people living with neurological conditions to implement ongoing reflective practice to identify and address, where appropriate, their education and training needs.
- **3.4** Each organisation ensures the education and training needs of staff who support people living with neurological conditions are aligned to professional development frameworks, where appropriate.
- **3.5** Each organisation ensures relevant information is available to staff to enable them to care and support people living with neurological conditions. This is aligned to appropriate guidance, standards and best practice, where available.^{5-10, 21-28, 49}
- **3.6** Staff wellbeing is supported through ongoing personal and peer support.

- People can be confident that staff providing their care and support:
 - are trained, skilled, knowledgeable and competent
 - have a clear understanding of their role and responsibilities and who to report any issues or concerns to
 - have the training to meet their needs and use their learning to ensure care that is safe, effective and person centred
 - implement a multi-professional and multi-agency approach, where appropriate
 - recognise a person as an expert in their own experiences, needs and wishes, and
 - treat them with dignity and compassion, and communications are conveyed in a courteous and respectful way.

What does the standard mean for staff?

- Staff:
 - can demonstrate knowledge, skills and competence relevant to their role, responsibilities, and the people to whom they are delivering care and support
 - attend and participate in relevant training, and achieve and maintain the required competencies and qualifications
 - can access condition-specific training and guidance, where appropriate

- are confident in their role within multidisciplinary and multi-agency teams, and can fulfil their responsibilities
- are clear what their contribution is to ensuring that people have a positive experience of care and support
- receive accurate and current information to enable them to support people, and
- respect people as experts in their own experiences, needs and wishes, and understand the impact that treatment and medications may have.

What does the standard mean for the organisation?

- Organisations provide staff with:
 - the necessary knowledge and skills, appropriate to their roles and responsibilities, to provide high quality care and support
 - ongoing support for continued development, and
 - ongoing personal and peer support opportunities.
- Training and development opportunities are provided, accessible and promoted to all relevant staff.
- Multi-agency and multidisciplinary training is developed and promoted, where appropriate.
- The organisation:
 - ensures that information on services that they deliver is both accurate and current, and
 - supports staff to share their feedback to inform service improvements.

Practical examples of evidence of achievement (NOTE: this list is not exhaustive)

- Evidence of provision and uptake of staff training:
 - to continuously improve the information, support, care and treatment they provide
 - to support people (and their family and carers) to self-manage their condition effectively
 - to support effective communication and meaningful conversations, and
 - to support people with additional communication needs, for example, people with sensory impairments or difficulties with speech and language.
- Evidence of:
 - promotion and implementation of the Health and Social Care Standards
 - provision and uptake of multidisciplinary and multi-agency training
 - staff appropriately signposting and referring people to support services, for example, specialist neurological services including neuro rehabilitation, neuropsychology and neurophysiology, and third sector services
 - provision and uptake of staff education and training in quality improvement methodology relevant to their role and responsibilities, and
 - competency and professional conduct frameworks.

- Where appropriate to role, demonstration of staff having access to regular supervision, appraisal and support to identify training needs.
- Use of incident reports or significant event analysis for learning, reflecting and supporting training action plans, for example, audit to measure medication errors and improve medicines management in inpatient care.
- Evaluation of training needs and training programmes.
- Information and support mechanisms for staff.
- Evidence of competency frameworks, appropriate to role and workplace setting.
- Implementation of self-management strategies and frameworks, for example, 'Gaun Yersel' The Self-Management Strategy for Long Term Conditions in Scotland.³³

Standard 4: Diagnosis

Standard statement

Diagnosis of a neurological condition is accurate, person centred, and followed by appropriate information, support and advice.

Rationale

Neurological symptoms are common and do not always reflect neurological disease. Diagnosis of a neurological condition can be complex. The cause of an individual's neurological symptoms can be more promptly identified in some people than in others, and some individuals may not be able to receive a formal or specific diagnosis.

People living with a neurological condition can benefit from a person-centred assessment with access to clinical investigations, as appropriate, to determine the cause of their neurological symptoms. This is followed by an accurate diagnosis, where possible, with information, support and advice in a format, style and time that is right for the person.^{8, 9, 16}

Some diagnoses can be made by a clinician within a primary or acute care⁵⁰ setting. Where further advice on the diagnosis and management of a person's symptoms is required, the individual is appropriately referred, in line with relevant guidance and standards,^{5-10, 19, 21-28, 49} to a clinician with expertise in neurological conditions.

Effective collaboration, whether between primary and secondary care or acute and specialist care, can support both an accurate and timely diagnosis. This can be improved through enhanced training for staff who manage people who first present with symptoms indicative of a neurological condition, as well as an agreed referral pathway to a clinician with neurological expertise.⁵¹

Where no formal or specific diagnosis can be identified or confirmed and the cause of the individual's symptoms remains unclear, the person (and their family and carers, where appropriate), are supported to manage their symptoms through access to services based on their assessed needs and through shared decision-making.

- **4.1** Where a person requires input from a clinician with expertise in neurological conditions, they:
 - receive timely and appropriate referral to the relevant neurology service in line with relevant guidance and standards, where available,^{5-10, 19, 21-28, 49} and
 - are offered appropriate information, support and advice to manage their symptoms before their first appointment with the relevant neurology service.

- **4.2** Where there is an urgent clinical request for a neurological opinion from a care team, timely advice and clinical review is provided by a clinician with neurological expertise. This is aligned to relevant guidance, standards and best practice, where available.^{5-10, 19, 21-28, 49}
- **4.3** Access to appropriate clinical assessments and investigations is planned and people are:
 - promptly provided with appropriate and person-centred information and support
 - offered opportunities to ask further questions, and
 - asked how they would like to be informed of any outcomes and diagnosis.
- **4.4** All results, including further actions where appropriate, are provided promptly to the person (including person-centred feedback) and the referring clinician.
- **4.5** Where a diagnosis can be confirmed to the person (and their family and carers, where appropriate):
 - it is conveyed by a clinician with neurological expertise
 - information to understand the diagnosed condition and its potential change over time is provided in a format that is right for them, and
 - condition-specific advice, including treatment, symptom and medicines management is provided, where appropriate.
- **4.6** Where a person's neurological symptoms cannot be formally diagnosed, the individual (and their family and carers, where appropriate) receive person-centred information and advice to manage their symptoms, and referred to relevant support services, where required.
- **4.7** People have access to appropriate re-evaluations and re-investigations where a diagnosis is clinically uncertain.

- People:
 - will know why they have been referred
 - will be informed of how long their appointment should take, what assessments they may need and a plan for further review, where required
 - can have confidence that the organisations that provide clinical care will have agreed referral protocols and prioritisation processes
 - will have access to appropriate investigations and support services for their suspected condition
 - will have a clear understanding of any outcomes from appointments which are communicated in a way that is appropriate to their needs
 - receive information to understand their condition in a format and style that is appropriate to their needs

- are involved in decisions following their diagnosis, and
- will have access to re-assessment and re-investigation if clinically appropriate.

What does the standard mean for staff?

- Staff:
 - have clear guidance on referral protocols and prioritisation processes, including how practitioners and services link with one another
 - can appropriately refer people to the relevant neurology service
 - can support people to understand why they are having assessments or investigations
 - can communicate the diagnosis to the person in the way that they have requested, providing relevant information and condition-specific advice, where appropriate
 - can support people who do not receive a formal diagnosis with relevant information, advice and options for referral to relevant symptom management support services, and
 - can support, signpost and refer people to appropriate services where a diagnosis is clinically uncertain.

What does the standard mean for the organisation?

- The organisation:
 - ensures clear and robust referral and service re-entry protocols are developed (with multidisciplinary input) and implemented
 - supports people to receive prompt access to investigations, and
 - demonstrates a commitment to supporting post-diagnostic referral, investigation, information sharing and signposting.

Practical examples of evidence of achievement (NOTE: this list is not exhaustive)

- Agreed referral pathways and protocols to care and support services, for example, rehabilitation services, adaptations and equipment services.
- Implementation of referral pathways or protocols, for example, from acute unscheduled care.
- Evidence of audit or action plans for referrals to acute neurology.
- Agreed referral pathways and protocols for assessment and investigation with evidence of and timely access to neuro-imaging, neurophysiology, neuropsychological testing and ancillary investigations, with inpatient assessment, where indicated.
- Implementation of plans for assessment and investigation.
- Development and implementation of a referral prioritisation process within services, for example, acute unscheduled care presentations or where there is rapid clinical change of an individual.
- Evidence of review following diagnosis by a clinician with neurological expertise, for example, consultant neurologist or specialist neurological nurse.

- Information and support available in a format, style and at a time that is right for the person living with a neurological condition (and their family and carers), for example, confirmation of a diagnosis, advice about their condition and medicines management.
- Implementation of action plans to address barriers to service re-entry in recurrent episodic conditions, for example, epilepsy or long term chronic progressive conditions, for example, cerebellar ataxia.
- A person-centred approach to clinical consultations, where appropriate, for example, Attend Anywhere.⁵²
- Adaptive patient booking systems, for example, Rapid Access Neurology Clinics (RANC).
- Evidence of using feedback from the individual's experience to inform service improvements with action plans.

Standard 5: Assessment of needs

Standard statement

People living with neurological conditions are offered a holistic needs assessment with opportunities for review as an individual's needs change.

Rationale

People who live with a neurological condition (and their family and carers, where appropriate), are at the centre of decisions that affect them.⁵³ They are recognised as experts in their experience of their neurological condition.¹⁶

A growing evidence base suggests that a holistic approach to assessing an individual's needs and their involvement in shared decision-making can lead to positive outcomes for people living with a long term condition.^{15, 33, 34, 53-55} People are supported to identify their goals, discuss their care and support, and agree and co-ordinate a plan for how their goals and personal outcomes will be met.⁵⁶ A holistic needs assessment considers a person's neurological condition and also their physical, psychological, emotional, spiritual and social needs to support them to live in good health.⁵⁷

Effective care and support planning with the individual (and their family and carers, where appropriate) can ensure that a person's holistic needs are met in a timely and appropriate way.⁵⁸ Shared decision-making supports people to understand their options and express their values and preferences to make decisions about how to manage their neurological condition and wider healthcare.⁵⁹

A coordinated and effective multidisciplinary and multi-agency approach to care and support planning enables people to develop the knowledge, skills and confidence to manage their neurological condition, general health, care and wellbeing.

Appropriate to the individual and their neurological condition, development of an anticipatory care plan can support people to consider their personal wishes and preferences and enable them to make informed and positive choices about their future.^{60, 61}

- **5.1** People living with a neurological condition are offered a holistic needs assessment. This is in line with relevant condition-specific guidance and standards, where available.^{5-10, 21-28, 62}
- **5.2** People living with a neurological condition (and their family and carers, where appropriate) are involved in identifying their needs through:
 - discussing what matters to them
 - identifying goals and personal outcomes
 - clear identification, recording and action (where appropriate) of their assessed needs, and

- support to achieve their personal outcomes with an opportunity for review as their needs change. This is in line with relevant condition-specific guidance and standards, where available.^{5-10, 21-28, 62}
- **5.3** A person-centred neurological care and support plan is:
 - developed through shared decision-making with the individual (and their family and carer, where appropriate) with care planning support from the organisation
 - informed by an individual's assessed needs with opportunities for regular review as these needs change
 - shared with the individual, their family and carers (if applicable), professionals and organisations, and
 - used to inform handovers, care and setting transitions, discharge planning and emergency health or crisis support.
- **5.4** A review of an individual's assessed needs, with a professional with neurological expertise, can be accessed:
 - by the individual as their needs change,
 - through appropriate and flexible service delivery models in organisational pathways, and
 - in line with relevant condition-specific guidance and standards, where available.^{5-10, 21-28, 62}
- **5.5** People are supported to have an anticipatory care plan, where appropriate. This plan is:
 - developed, agreed and shared with the person, their family and carer (if applicable)
 - acted on appropriately
 - shared in an appropriate manner with professionals and organisations, and
 - reviewed and discussed at agreed intervals.
- **5.6** People are fully informed of who to contact for further advice, support and access to services throughout the course of their neurological condition.

- People:
 - are offered a comprehensive needs assessment
 - are supported to identify and achieve their goals and personal outcomes
 - will have a person-centred care and support plan
 - will be fully supported to discuss significant changes to their needs
 - can access a person-centred review as their assessed needs change
 - can plan their care and support to meet their assessed needs, and

- can be confident that their wishes are taken into account to ensure their future care needs are anticipated.

What does the standard mean for staff?

- Staff can:
 - confidently complete a holistic needs assessments and anticipatory care plan or know how to engage with others to do this
 - appropriately engage with people living with a neurological condition to identify their goals and personal outcomes
 - support people to discuss what matters to them
 - develop, review and appropriately share care and support plans,
 - understand their role in reviewing assessed needs, and
 - provide information of who to contact if an individual requires further advice, support and intervention.

What does the standard mean for the organisation?

- The organisation has systems and processes in place to ensure an appropriate response to people's needs, goals and personal outcomes, including:
 - holistic needs assessments
 - regular review of an individual's needs
 - development of person-centred care and support plans
 - appropriate and timely sharing of information
 - shared decision-making with the person living with a neurological condition
 - an innovative and flexible approach to conducting reviews, and
 - clear guidance on supporting staff to develop an anticipatory care plan with the individual which is outcomes focused, reviewed and discussed at regular intervals and confidentially shared, as appropriate.

Practical examples of evidence of achievement (NOTE: this list is not exhaustive)

- Evidence of local arrangements and written guidance to ensure that people living with a neurological condition are offered a holistic needs assessment with further opportunities to have one, even if previously declined.
- Evidence of organisations implementing condition-specific guidance, where available, for example, SIGN Guideline 143 diagnosis and management of epilepsy in adults.
- Evidence of supporting people to achieve their personal outcomes with regular review, for example, an annual review with the multidisciplinary team followed by information and support for the person, including a summary of the review and next steps.
- Evidence of how an individual's personal outcomes are being met, for example, using a personal outcomes data collection tool.
- Review to determine the impact the service is having on an individual's experience, including follow-up actions with timescales.

- Person-centred care and support plans demonstrating involvement of the individual incorporating their needs and wishes, for example, support to manage risk to meet personal outcomes.
- Availability of information for people, their family and carers, including leaflets and appropriate websites, for example NHS Inform⁶³ and ALISS.⁶⁴
- Evidence of care and support plans being used to inform the transition of an individual from for example, secondary to community care.
- Evidence of anticipatory care plans, including how these are monitored, reviewed and updated.
- Implementation of the Anticipatory Care Planning Toolkit.⁶⁰
- Demonstration of using anticipatory care plans and key information summary (KIS).
- Evidence of an individual being supported to update their anticipatory care plan through the Let's Think Ahead My ACP app.
- A flexible approach in how reviews are undertaken, where appropriate, for example Attend Anywhere⁵², person-led review appointments, planned review within a social care setting or in an individual's home.
- Evidence of information provided to an individual of who to contact for further advice, support and intervention following transition or discharge, for example, re-referral from GP, direct contact with service for follow-up appointment and annual review appointment.

Standard 6: Treatment and management

Standard statement

Treatment and ongoing support for people living with a neurological condition is high quality and person centred.

Rationale

Neurological disease affects people in different ways. People have their own unique experience of living with a neurological condition. Individuals may need access to a range of high quality health, care and support services in a number of settings to effectively treat, as appropriate, and manage their condition. Timely support to access high quality and person-centred services with clear, safe and effective access routes across health, social care and the third sector, ensures the assessed needs of people (and their family and carers, where appropriate) can be met.

The impact of living with a neurological condition differs enormously in individuals. There are a range of self-limiting neurological diseases which spontaneously resolve with or without treatment. Many people living with a neurological condition may benefit from new and effective treatments that can be provided as part of an effort to manage symptoms, restore lost function, and as a proactive measure to prevent worsening of their condition.

Many people effectively self-manage their condition day-to-day. Supported self-management encourages people to make decisions and positive choices about their health and wellbeing. People who recognise that they have an important role in managing their own condition experience better health and wellbeing outcomes.⁶⁵

Specialist input from, for example, neuropsychiatry and neuropsychology services, may be required to meet the assessed needs of individuals. Some people living with a neurological condition may benefit from interventions and support, including drug therapies and neurological rehabilitation.

A number of complex neurological conditions are appropriately managed through a palliative approach that focuses on improving or maintaining the quality of life for individuals and their family and carers.^{66, 67} Evidence indicates that for many life-limiting conditions, beginning palliative treatment as early as possible through a multidisciplinary approach can not only improve symptoms but also address some of the associated psychological challenges.^{66, 67}

There is a recognition that access to treatment and ongoing management services can be challenging. This often increases the pressures on other parts of the health and social care system,³⁶ precipitating unscheduled episodes of care. A consistent approach to supporting people living with neurological conditions can improve their outcomes and experiences.

- **6.1** People living with neurological conditions can access treatment in line with relevant condition-specific guidance and standards, where available.^{5-10, 19, 21-28, 49, 62}
- **6.2** People living with a neurological condition can access ongoing support to manage their condition at the right time for them, in a format appropriate for their needs. This is directed by their neurological care and support plan, and in line with relevant condition-specific guidance and standards, where available.^{5-10, 19, 21-28, 49, 62}
- **6.3** Organisations ensure individuals living with a neurological condition, (and their family and carers), where appropriate, can access:
 - further support and review from a multidisciplinary team, appropriate to their condition and symptoms with multi-agency support (if required)
 - alternative support or signposting should there be a delay in their care and support, and
 - physical, emotional, cognitive, mental health and wellbeing support, including self-management support.
- **6.4** People living with a neurological condition (and their families and carers, where appropriate) can access specialist clinical intervention and support from services throughout the course of their condition, as appropriate, including:
 - neuropsychology
 - neuropsychiatry, and
 - neuro-rehabilitation.
- **6.5** People are signposted and supported to access third sector organisations, support groups and local services.
- **6.6** Palliative care is discussed sensitively with individuals and their family and carers, when required throughout the course of their condition, and with actions recorded within their care and support plan. This includes:
 - respiratory support
 - nutritional support
 - medicines management
 - postural care, and
 - end of life care.⁶⁸

• People:

- can have confidence that staff and organisations will work together to ensure that they can access the right care and support at the right time for them
- experience consistency and continuity throughout their care and support
- are informed of any delay to their care and support with an interim measure put in place to address the delay
- can choose from a range of services, where appropriate, which is informed by their neurological care and support plan, and
- can access information about relevant third sector organisations, support groups and local services.

What does the standard mean for staff?

• Staff:

- work in partnership with the individual (and their family and carers, where appropriate), professionals and organisations to plan their care and support
- support people to access the right care and support at the right time
- can deliver care and support in a format appropriate to the individual's needs, and
- can confidently refer and signpost people to appropriate health, social care and third sector support services.

What does the standard mean for the organisation?

- The organisation:
 - ensures that there are clear, safe and effective routes for people to access treatment and support services that met their assessed needs
 - supports people to access appropriate care and support services, and
 - ensures that people living with a neurological condition experience consistency and continuity of care.

Practical examples of evidence of achievement (NOTE: this list is not exhaustive)

- Evidence that the organisation demonstrates and supports continuity of care.
- Self-management options, for example, emergent use of Buccal Midazolam for seizure control and intermittent self-catheterisation.
- Evidence of onward referral for people's health and wellbeing needs, for example, referral to neuropsychology and clinical psychology.
- Evidence of signposting and support to access appropriate third sector and specialist organisations.
- Evidence of pathways with appropriate access to specialist services, for example, neurological rehabilitation, including physiotherapy, occupational therapy, speech and language therapy and dietetics, neurophysiology, neuropsychiatry and neuropsychology/mental health teams.
- Agreed treatment protocols, for example, treatment pathways to neurosurgery and orthopaedic spinal surgery.

- Multidisciplinary team clinic access to neuropsychological assessment and psychological intervention.
- Evidence of individuals being supported to access psychological interventions, for example, cognitive rehabilitation and behaviour therapy and motivational interviewing.
- Information and support available to people about support services, including, referral services and information leaflets.
- Implementation of the Strategic Framework for Action on Palliative and End of Life Care.⁶⁹
- Provision and uptake of palliative and end of life care: enriching and improving experience⁷⁰ framework and learning resource.

Standard 7: Person-centred care

Standard statement

People living with neurological conditions experience high quality, well-coordinated and person-centred services.

Rationale

A person-centred approach is fundamental to achieving the quality ambition for people who experience care and support services in Scotland.⁷¹ Personalised and well-coordinated neurological care and support enables people and their family and carers to live an independent and fulfilling life. Care provision that focuses on positive experiences of care and support, personal outcomes and an individual's needs and wishes can result in more effective care and a better experience for people who use health and social services.

Individuals who live with neurological conditions and their family and carers will experience compassionate care which is provided by people and organisations who understand their support needs.^{16, 72}

- **7.1** Organisations ensure that people living with a neurological condition are fully informed and supported at all stages of their care with:
 - accurate information provided at a suitable time and in a format and language that is appropriate to their communication needs, and
 - signposting and access to health, social care and third sector services, choices and care options that meet their needs.
- **7.2** People living with a neurological condition are empowered and supported:
 - by compassionate staff who respect their wishes and personal outcomes
 - by organisations that promote and implement the guiding principles of the Health and Social Care Standards¹⁶
 - to develop the knowledge, skills and confidence to manage their own condition and medication, as appropriate, and
 - to be as independent and as in control of their health and wellbeing as they can be.
- **7.3** A person's additional needs or health conditions are recognised and supported by staff with signposting and referral, to appropriate multi-agency services, if required.
- **7.4** People have the opportunity to involve their carers, families and/or other representatives in their care, if they wish.

People:

- are recognised as individuals and treated with compassion and respect
- are involved in discussions and decisions about their neurological care and support
- have the opportunity to plan their care with staff who work together to achieve outcomes which are important to them and their quality of life
- can be confident that there is an emphasis on understanding their perspective and how their condition impacts on their lives
- have a positive experience of care and support services
- are supported to have an understanding, skills and confidence to use health information, to be active partners in their own care and to navigate health and social care systems
- can be confident that the multidisciplinary and multi-agency teams providing care and support are holistic and designed to effectively meet their needs, and
- are given the opportunity to involve their families, carers and/or other representatives in their care, as appropriate.

What does the standard mean for staff?

- Staff:
 - are familiar with and demonstrate a person-centred approach, ensuring that people feel well supported and listened to
 - are competent in providing and supporting effective communication, and demonstrate a dignified person-centred approach
 - can actively engage with people (and where appropriate their families and carers) to understand their needs and preferences, and
 - understand that people are affected by neurological conditions in different ways and offer appropriate support that reflects needs and preferences.

What does the standard mean for the organisation?

- Organisations:
 - have systems and processes to ensure that they deliver responsive care and support
 - provide information in formats that are accessible
 - ensure that staff have time to support and care for individuals, and
 - have an enabling attitude towards individuals.
- Care plans will set out how an individual's needs will be met and respect their wants and wishes.

Practical examples of evidence of achievement (NOTE: this list is not exhaustive)

• Evidence of supporting people who manage their own medications to do so at times which are right for them when there is a change in their environment, for example, hospital admission.

- Evidence of support for people in communicating their needs, for example, interpretation and translation services and independent advocacy services.
- Evidence of support for people with additional communication needs, for example, people with sensory impairments or difficulties with speech and language.
- Initiatives to enhance person-centred approaches, for example "What Matters to You".⁷³
- Evidence of people being supported to manage risk to meet personal outcomes which enhance their quality of life.
- Innovative approaches to accessing care and support, where appropriate, for example, Attend Anywhere.⁵²
- Information and support available to people around self-management, for example, referral services and information leaflets.
- Initiatives to maximise support provided to family and carers, for example, information about services and how to engage with relevant support groups.
- Evidence of signposting and supporting people to access, for example, advocacy, legal advice, employment, housing and financial support.
- Implementation of person-led appointments systems, for example, patient focused booking (PFB).
- Provision and uptake of relevant training for family and carers, where appropriate, for example, in the use of hoist and peg feed training.

References

- 1. Sue Ryder. Rewrite the Future. 2017 [cited 2018 February 2]; Available from: <u>http://www.sueryder.org/~/media/files/how%20we%20help/campaigns/rewrite%</u> 20the%20future%20report%202017.pdf.
- 2. World Health Organization. What are neurological disorders? 2016 [cited 2019 31 Jan]; Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/features/qa/55/en/</u>.
- The Scottish Government. National Advisory Committee for Neurological Conditions. 2018 [cited 2018 Aug 21]; Available from: <u>https://www.gov.scot/Topics/Health/Services/Neurological-Conditions/NACNC</u>.
- 4. The Scottish Parliament. Patient Rights (Scotland) Act 2011. 2011 [cited 2019 22 Feb]; Available from: <u>http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2011/5/contents</u>.
- Association of British Neurologists. ABN's quality standards to support models of good practice. 2016 [cited 2018 March 26]; Available from: <u>https://www.theabn.org/media/Documents/ABN%20publications/ABN%20Quality%20standards%202016.pdf</u>.
- 6. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Motor neurone disease. 2016 [cited 2018 March 27]; Available from: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs126</u>.
- National Institute for Care and Excellence. Chronic fatigue syndrome/myalgic encephalomyelitis (or encephalopathy): diagnosis and management. 2007 [cited 2019 Feb 05]; Available from: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg53/resources/chronic-fatigue-</u> <u>syndromemyalgic-encephalomyelitis-or-encephalopathy-diagnosis-and-</u> management-pdf-975505810885.
- 8. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Multiple sclerosis in adults: management. 2014 [cited 2018 March 27]; Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg186.
- 9. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Motor neurone disease: assessment and management. 2016 [cited 2018 March 27]; Available from: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng42</u>.
- 10. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Multiple sclerosis. 2016 [cited 2018 March 27]; Available from: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs108</u>.
- 11. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Transition from children's to adults' services for young people using health or social care services. 2016 [cited July 18 2018]; Available from: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng43/</u>.
- 12. Prof. J. Stone. Functional Neurological Disorder. 2018 [cited 2019 Feb 05]; Available from: <u>https://fndhope.org/fnd-guide/symptoms/#</u>.
- The Scottish Government. National Health and Wellbeing Outcomes. 2015 [cited 2018 March 19]; Available from: <u>http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0047/00470219.pdf</u>.
- 14. The Scottish Government. Realising Realistic Medicine. 2017 [cited July 05, 2017]; Available from: <u>http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2017/02/3336/0</u>.
- 15. The Scottish Parliament. Social Care (Self-directed Support) (Scotland) Act 2013. 2013 [cited 2018 Aug 14]; Available from: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2013/1/contents/enacted.
- The Scottish Government. Health and Social Care Standards: My support, my life. 2017 [cited 2018 April 02]; Available from: <u>http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2017/06/1327</u>.

- The Scottish Government. Carers (Scotland) Act 2016. 2016 [cited 2019 04 Feb]; Available from: <u>https://www2.gov.scot/Topics/Health/Support-Social-Care/Unpaid-Carers/Implementation/Carers-scotland-act-2016</u>.
- 18. The Scottish Government. Organisational duty of candour: guidance. 2018 [cited 2018 Dec 18]; Available from: <u>https://www.gov.scot/publications/organisational-duty-candour-guidance/</u>.
- 19. The Scottish Government. 18 weeks: The Referral to Treatment Standard. 2008 [cited 2019 21 Jan]; Available from: https://www2.gov.scot/resource/doc/211202/0055802.pdf.
- 20. Healthcare Improvement Scotland. Stepped care for functional neurological symptoms. 2012 [cited 2018 Feb 07]; Available from: <u>http://www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org/his/idoc.ashx?docid=6d302668-ff12-4f53-b547-72c19531e37a&version=-1</u>.
- 21. SIGN. Early management of patients with a head injury. 2009 [cited 2018 Sept 3]; Available from: <u>https://www.sign.ac.uk/assets/sign110.pdf</u>.
- 22. SIGN. SIGN 130: Brain injury rehabilitation in adults 2013 [cited 2018 Sept 3]; Available from: <u>https://www.sign.ac.uk/assets/sign130.pdf</u>.
- 23. SIGN. Guideline: Cerebal Palsy in Adults. 2018 [cited 2018 Sept 3]; Available from: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/GID-NG10031/documents/short-version-of-draft-guideline</u>.
- 24. SIGN. Pharmacological management of migrane. 2018 [cited 2019 31 Jan]; Available from: <u>https://www.sign.ac.uk/sign-155-migraine.html</u>.
- 25. SIGN. Diagnosis and management of epilepsy in adults. 2015 [cited 2019 31 Jan]; Available from: <u>https://www.sign.ac.uk/sign-143-diagnosis-and-management-of-epilepsy-in-adults.html</u>.
- 26. SIGN. Diagnosis and pharmacological management of Parkinson's disease. 2010 [cited 2019 31 Jan]; Available from: <u>https://www.sign.ac.uk/sign-113-diagnosis-and-pharmacological-management-of-parkinson-s-disease.html</u>.
- 27. SIGN. Diagnosis and management of headache in adults. 2008 [cited 2019 Feb 05]; Available from: <u>https://www.sign.ac.uk/assets/sign107.pdf</u>.
- SIGN. Management of patients with stroke or TIA: assessment, investigation, immediate management and secondary prevention 2008 [cited 2019 Feb 05]; Available from: <u>https://www.sign.ac.uk/assets/sign108.pdf</u>.
- 29. The Scottish Parliament. Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014. 2014 [cited 2018 Aug 21]; Available from: <u>http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2014/9/contents/enacted</u>.
- 30. Healthcare Improvement Scotland. Quality of Care Approach. 2017 [cited 2018 April 06]; Available from: <u>http://www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org/our_work/governance_and_ass</u> <u>urance/quality_of_care_approach.aspx</u>.
- 31. Quality Care Commision. Regulations for service providers and managers. 2017 [cited 2018 March 19]; Available from: <u>http://www.cqc.org.uk/guidance-providers/regulations-enforcement/regulations-service-providers-managers</u>.
- Healthcare Improvement Scotland. Learning from adverse events through reporting and review - A national framework for Scotland: July 2018. 2018 [cited 2019 Mar 13]; Available from: <u>http://www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org/our_work/governance_and_ass</u> <u>urance/management_of_adverse_events/national_framework.aspx</u>.

- 33. The Scottish Government. 'Gaun Yersel' The Self Management Strategy for Long Term Conditions in Scotland. 2008 [cited July 12 2018]; Available from: <u>http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0042/00422988.pdf</u>.
- Cameron A, Lart R, Bostock L, Coomber C. Factors that promote and hinder joint and integrated working between health and social care services: a review of research literature. Health & social care in the community. 2014;22(3):225-33.
- Thames Valley Strategic Clinical Network. Transforming Community Neurology. 2016 [cited 2018 March 20]; Available from: <u>http://www.neural.org.uk/store/assets/files/586/original/Transforming_Community_Neurology - Part A - Transformation_Guide - version_1.pdf</u>.
- 36. NHS England. NEW MODELS OF CARE IN COMMUNITY NEUROLOGY. 2016 [cited 2019 22 Jan]; Available from: <u>http://www.londonscn.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/neuro-cnp-transformation-guide-052016.pdf</u>.
- The Scottish Government. Clinical and Care Governance Framework. 2015 [cited 2018 March 22]; Available from: <u>http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0049/00491266.pdf</u>.
- Scottish Social Services Council. Codes of Practice for Social Workers and Employers. 2016 [cited 2019 04 Feb]; Available from: <u>http://www.sssc.uk.com/about-the-sssc/multimedia-library/publications/37-about-the-sssc/information-material/61-codes-of-practice/1020-sssc-codes-of-practice-for-social-service-workers-and-employers.</u>
- 39. NHS Education for Scotland. Post Registration Career Development Framework for Nurses, Midwives and AHPs. 2019 [cited 2019 04 Feb]; Available from: <u>http://www.careerframework.nes.scot.nhs.uk/</u>.
- 40. General Medical Council. Continuing professional development. 2019 [cited 2019 Feb 04]; Available from: <u>https://www.gmc-uk.org/education/standards-guidance-and-curricula/guidance/continuing-professional-development</u>.
- 41. General Medical Council. Good medical practice. 2019 [cited 2019 Feb 04]; Available from: <u>https://www.gmc-uk.org/ethical-guidance/ethical-guidance-for-doctors/good-medical-practice</u>.
- 42. MS Trust PsUatMNDA. Allied Health Professionals' competency framework for progressive neurological conditions. 2018 [cited 2019 Feb 04]; Available from: <u>https://www.mndassociation.org/wp-content/uploads/Allied-Health-</u> <u>Professionals-Competency-framework-for-progressive-neurological-</u> <u>conditions.pdf</u>.
- 43. Royal College of Occupational Therapists. The Career Development Framework: Guiding Principles for Occupational Therapy. 2017 [cited 2018 Feb 04]; Available from: <u>https://www.rcot.co.uk/practice-resources/learningzone/career-development-framework</u>.
- 44. Royal College of Physicians. Assessment and CPD. n.d. [cited 2019 Feb 04]; Available from: <u>https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/education-practice/assessment-and-cpd</u>.
- 45. Royal College of Psychiatrists. Submitting your CPD. 2019 [cited 2019 Feb 04]; Available from: <u>https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/members/submitting-your-cpd</u>.
- 46. Royal College of Surgeons. Continuing Professional Development (CPD). 2018 [cited 2019 Feb 04]; Available from: <u>https://www.rcseng.ac.uk/standards-and-research/standards-and-guidance/revalidation/cpd/</u>.

- 47. The British Psychological Society. Professional Development. 2019 [cited 2019 Feb 04]; Available from: <u>https://www.bps.org.uk/psychologists/professional-development</u>.
- The Scottish Government. THE FRAMEWORK FOR CONTINUOUS LEARNING IN SOCIAL SERVICES. 2014 [cited 2019 Feb 04]; Available from: <u>http://www.continuouslearningframework.com/?wpfb_dl=106</u>.
- 49. Association of British Neurologists. ABN Guidelines for unscheduled care and non urgent neurological conditions: Various. 2014 [cited 2018 March 26]; Available from: <u>https://www.theabn.org/media/Documents/ABN%20publications/Quality%20Sta</u> <u>ndards%20for%20Unscheduled%20care%20and%20for%20non%20urgent%20</u> neurological%20conditions%20i.pdf.
- 50. Neurologists. AoB. Quality Standards for Unscheduled Care: Acute Neurology. 2014 [cited; Available from: <u>https://www.theabn.org/media/Documents/ABN%20publications/Quality%20Sta</u> <u>ndards%20for%20Unscheduled%20care%20and%20for%20non%20urgent%20</u> neurological%20conditions%20i.pdf.
- Department of Health. The National Service Framework for Longterm Conditions. 2005 [cited 2018 March 26]; Available from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1</u> <u>98114/National_Service_Framework_for_Long_Term_Conditions.pdf</u>.
- 52. Scottish Centre for Telehealth & Telecare. Attend Anywhere. 2018 [cited 2018 Sept 05]; Available from: <u>https://sctt.org.uk/programmes/video-enabled-health-and-care/attendanywhere/</u>.
- 53. The Scottish Government. Health and Social Care Delivery Plan. 2016 [cited 2018 March 20]; Available from: http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0051/00511950.pdf.
- 54. Ahmad N, Ellins J, Krelle H, Lawrie M. Person-centred care: from ideas to action. Bringing together the evidence on shared decision making and self-management support. The Health Foundation, London (UK). 2014.
- 55. The Health Foundation. Person-centred care made simple. 2014 [cited 2018 March 26]; Available from:
 - http://www.health.org.uk/sites/health/files/PersonCentredCareMadeSimple.pdf.
- 56. Eaton S. Delivering person-centred care in long-term conditions. Future Hospital Journal. 2016;3(2):128-31.
- 57. The Health Foundation. What makes us healthy? An introduction to the social determinants of health. 2018 [cited 2019 23 Jan]; Available from: <u>https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/What-makes-us-healthy-quick-guide.pdf</u>.
- 58. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Epilepsy in adults. 2013 [cited 2018 April 04]; Available from: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs26</u>.
- 59. Shepherd HL, Barratt A, Jones A, Bateson D, Carey K, Trevena LJ, et al. Can consumers learn to ask three questions to improve shared decision making? A feasibility study of the ASK (AskShareKnow) Patient–Clinician Communication Model® intervention in a primary health-care setting. Health Expectations. 2016;19(5):1160-8.
- 60. Healthcare Improvement Scotland. Anticipatory Care Planning Toolkit. 2018 [cited 2018 Aug 14]; Available from: <u>https://ihub.scot/anticipatory-care-planning-toolkit/#</u>.

- 61. Office of the Public Guardian (Scotland). A Guide to making a Power of Attorney. 2013 [cited 2019 23 Jan]; Available from: <u>http://www.publicguardian-scotland.gov.uk/docs/librariesprovider3/poa/pdf-documents/a-guide-to-making-a-power-of-attorney.pdf?sfvrsn=4</u>.
- 62. SIGN. Brain injury rehabilitation in adults. 2013 [cited 2019 31 Jan]; Available from: <u>https://www.sign.ac.uk/sign-130-brain-injury-rehabilitation-in-adults.html</u>.
- 63. NHS Scotland. NHS Inform. 2018 [cited 2018 Aug 12]; Available from: https://www.nhsinform.scot/.
- 64. Health and Social Care Alliance. A Local Information System for Scotland. 2018 [cited 2018 Aug 13]; Available from: <u>https://www.aliss.org/</u>.
- 65. Judith Hibbard. Supporting people to manage their health An introduction to patient activation. 2014 [cited 2018 April 03]; Available from: <u>https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field_publication_file/suppor</u> <u>ting-people-manage-health-patient-activation-may14.pdf</u>.
- 66. Robinson MT, Holloway RG. Palliative Care in Neurology. Mayo Clinic proceedings. 2017;92(10):1592-601. Epub 2017/10/07.
- 67. Anne Hogden SMA, Peter L. Silbert. Palliative Care in Neurology: Integrating a Palliative Approach to Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Care EMJ Neurol. 2018;6[1]:68-76,. 2018.
- 68. The Scottish Government. Guidance Caring for people in the last days and hours of life. 2014 [cited 2019 Feb 05].
- 69. The Scottish Government. Strategic Framework for Action on Palliative and End of Life Care. 2015 [cited 2018 Aug 14]; Available from: https://www.gov.scot/Publications/2015/12/4053/0.
- NHS Education for Scotland. Palliative and end of life care : enriching and improving experience. 2019 [cited 2019 28 Jan]; Available from: <u>https://learn.nes.nhs.scot/2450/palliative-and-end-of-life-care-enriching-andimproving-experience</u>.
- 71. The Scottish Government. NHSScotland Quality Strategy putting people at the heart of our NHS. 2010 [cited 2018 April 02]; Available from: http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2010/05/10102307/0.
- 72. The Scottish Government. The Healthcare Quality Strategy for NHSScotland. 2010 [cited 2018 Feb 13]; Available from: <u>https://www2.gov.scot/resource/doc/311667/0098354.pdf</u>.
- 73. Healthcare Improvement Scotland. What matters to you? 2018 [cited 2018 Aug 15]; Available from: <u>http://www.whatmatterstoyou.scot/</u>.

Appendix 1: Development of the general standards for neurological care and support

A short life working group (SLWG), convened in January 2017, was assigned to review and assess the currency of the clinical standards for neurological health services published in 2009. The group's recommendations were based on defined criteria, including best practice, personal outcomes, evidence base and other related standards and indicators. Following recommendations from the SLWG, Healthcare Improvement Scotland agreed to review the 2009 standards.

The general standards for neurological care and support have been informed by current evidence, best practice recommendations, and developed by group consensus.

Development activities

To ensure each standard is underpinned with the views and expectations of health and social care staff, third sector representatives, individuals and the public in relation to neurology, information has been gathered from a number of sources and activities, including:

- a literature review
- an equality impact assessment
- three standards development meetings between March 2018 and August 2018
- a 12-week consultation exercise on the draft standards between September and December 2018, and
- two finalisation meetings with the development group between January and February 2019.

The standards development group, chaired by Dr Tracey Baird, Consultant Neurologist, NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde, was convened in March 2018 to consider the evidence and to help identify key themes for standards development.

Membership of the standards development group is set out in Appendix 2.

Consultation feedback and finalisation of standards

Following the consultation exercise, the development group reconvened to review all comments received and to make final decisions and changes relating to the content of the standards. More information can be found in the consultation feedback report which is available on the Healthcare Improvement Scotland website: <u>http://www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org/</u>

Quality assurance

All standards development group members were responsible for advising on the professional aspects of the standards. Clinical members of the group were also responsible for advising on clinical aspects of the work. The chair was assigned lead responsibility for providing formal clinical assurance and sign-off on the technical and professional validity and acceptability of any reports or recommendations from the group.

All group members made a declaration of interest at the beginning stages of the project. They also reviewed and agreed to the group's Terms of Reference. More details are available on request from <u>hcis.standardsandindicators@nhs.net</u>. Healthcare Improvement Scotland also reviewed the standards document as a final quality assurance check. This ensures that:

- the standards are developed according to agreed Healthcare Improvement Scotland methodologies
- the standards document addresses the areas to be covered within the agreed scope, and
- any risk of bias in the standards development process as a whole is minimised.

For more information about Healthcare Improvement Scotland's role, direction and priorities, please visit:

www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org/drivingimprovement.aspx.

Appendix 2: Membership of the general standards for neurological care and support development group

Name	Position	Organisation
Tracey Baird	Chair, Consultant Neurologist	NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde
Lee Emslie	Dietitian	NHS Grampian
Rachel Gaddi	Speech and Language Therapist	NHS Ayrshire & Arran
Gregory Hill- O'Connor	Our Voice Co-ordinator	Health and Social Care Alliance Scotland
Charlie Hood	Patient representative	Health and Social Care Alliance Scotland
Wendy Jack	Interim Head of Strategy, Planning and Health Improvement	West Dunbartonshire Health and Social Care Partnership
Elinor Jayne	Policy and Public Affairs Manager - Scotland	Sue Ryder
Annie Macleod	Scotland Director	Parkinson's UK
Wendy McDougall	Project Officer	Healthcare Improvement Scotland
Jim McNally	Inspector	Care Inspectorate
Patrick Mark	Patient representative	Health and Social Care Alliance Scotland
Donna O'Rourke	Programme Manager	Healthcare Improvement Scotland
Jenny Preston	Consultant Occupational Therapist and Clinical Lead Neuro Rehabilitation	NHS Ayrshire & Arran
Ann Silver	Specialist Neurological Nurse	NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde
Angela Sprott	Registered Manager	Lomond & West Dunbartonshire Brain Injury Service
Anita Stewart	Senior Policy Manager - Neurological Conditions, Chronic Pain and Long-term Conditions	Scottish Government
Anissa Tonberg	Policy Officer	Epilepsy Scotland
Susan Walker	General Manager - Regional Services	NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde
Rachael Wallace	Patient representative	
Geraldine Ward	Patient representative	Health and Social Care Alliance Scotland
Fiona Wardell	Team Lead, Standards and Indicators	Healthcare Improvement Scotland
Andy Wynd	Chief Executive	Spina Bifida Hydrocephalus Scotland

You can read and download this document from our website. We are happy to consider requests for other languages or formats. Please contact our Equality and Diversity Advisor on 0141 225 6999 or email contactpublicinvolvement.his@nhs.net

Healthcare Improvement Scotland

Edinburgh Office Gyle Square 1 South Gyle Crescent Edinburgh EH12 9EB Glasgow Office Delta House 50 West Nile Street Glasgow G1 2NP

0131 623 4300

0141 225 6999

www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org